FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 6 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By [Signature]  
Chief Deputy Clerk

JOHN ANDREW KNIGHT,

Petitioner,

versus

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 85,654

District Court of Appeal,  
Fifth District, No. 94-1003

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY  
AND THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON, PUBLIC DEFENDER  
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRYNN NEWTON  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER  
Florida Bar Number 175150  
112-A Orange Avenue  
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114-4310  
904-252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Defendant and Respondent was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court, Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Seminole County, Florida. In the Brief the Respondent will be referred to as "the State" and the Petitioner will be referred to as he appears before this Honorable Court.

In the brief the following symbols will be used:

"R" - Record on appeal

"T" - Transcript of trial proceedings

"SR" - Supplemental record on appeal (Transcripts of re-arraignment and sentencing proceedings)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged by an amended information filed in the Circuit Court of Seminole County, Florida, with aggravated assault with a firearm and shooting at or into a building. (R 33) He was tried by a jury on February 15 and 16, 1994, and found guilty as charged. (R 73-74; T 302) On March 30, 1994, he was sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of three years in prison for aggravated assault with a firearm and ordered to serve one year on probation for shooting at or into a building. (R 96-102; SR 24)

On April 7, 1995, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences. Knight v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D862 (Fla. 5th DCA April 7, 1995), and certified the following question to this Honorable Court as being one of great public importance:

DOES THE DECISION IN [STATE v WELLER], 590 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1991)[,] WHICH REQUIRES THE TRIAL JUDGE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY [ON] MINIMUM MANDATORY SENTENCES APPLY WHERE A MINIMUM MANDATORY SENTENCE OF THREE CALENDAR YEARS MUST BE IMPOSED PURSUANT TO SECTION 775.087(2)(A), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991)?

Petitioner's notice to invoke this Honorable Court's discretionary jurisdiction was filed on April 21, 1995.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the early evening of September 6, 1993, Solomon Hardy was backing his car into the fenced yard of his house on West 16th Street in Sanford, Florida. (T 21, 41, 42, 132, 148) Petitioner stopped behind a truck that had parked in the street while Mr. Hardy maneuvered his vehicle, and then Petitioner pulled around the truck, and his and Mr. Hardy's cars almost collided. (T 43, 113, 115, 149) Petitioner and Mr. Hardy engaged in a heated verbal exchange and then in a physical altercation in the street. (T 43-46, 115, 129, 133, 134, 150, 151) Petitioner testified that Mr. Hardy had thrown the first punch, and Mr. Hardy admitted that he hit Petitioner in the mouth while Petitioner was on the ground. (T 46, 116, 117, 152, 155)

During the fight, an 80- or 120-pound Rottweiler described by witnesses as "vicious" was running in Mr. Hardy's yard, barking and trying to get out. (T 47, 103, 104, 113, 114, 142, 143) Some of the "bunch" of "loud" observers of the fight urged Mr. Hardy to sic the dog on Petitioner; there were others telling him not to do it. (T 48, 49, 119, 134, 138, 153, 154)

Charles Armstrong, who was visiting his mother-in-law who lived next door to the Hardy residence, saw Mr. Hardy knock Petitioner to the ground and stepped in to separate the men. (T 48, 49, 116, 133, 134, 138, 152) He said Mr. Hardy had not returned to his yard when Petitioner reached his car. (T 118, 135, 136, 139, 140)

Mr. Hardy said that as he was approaching his front door,

someone said, "He's got a gun," and he heard a shot and a bullet hit an aluminum blind inside the house. (T 52, 53, 119, 123) He said he heard two or three more shots as he ran around the house. (T 55) When he returned to the porch, Mr. Hardy said, Petitioner fired another shot in his direction. (T 56) He also testified that Petitioner fired a shot through his passenger window as he drove off. (T 57, 58)

Mr. Hardy said he found broken windows, holes near the top of walls in his and his daughter's rooms, and in a two-by-six beam in his car port canopy. (T 58-61, 63, 88, 111) Over Petitioner's objection, the State introduced a spent bullet which Mr. Hardy said he found on the ground under his car port and which he said he could identify by some paint from a house shingle and the design of where he believed it had pressed into the wood under the car port. (T 91-94, 97, 99, 108, 109, 119) He testified that he also recovered bullets from over his daughter's closet and from behind a couch. (T 101, 119)

Mr. Hardy said that Petitioner never said anything of a threatening nature. (T 120, 155)

Petitioner, a school teacher, was en route home that Labor Day from hitting golf balls. (T 148, 149) He testified that after the argument and fight with Mr. Hardy, he was afraid because he was from outside the neighborhood they were in, and some members of the crowd were exhorting his assailant to sic the Rottweiler on him. (T 154) He testified that he got a gun from under his car seat and fired into the air, to let the crowd know

that he was able to protect himself. (T 153-156, 159) Most of what Mr. Hardy believed to be bullet holes were high on the walls of the house, ten or eleven feet off the ground. (T 111, 119) Bullets appeared to have gone through several walls, each hole successively higher. (T 122)

Petitioner testified that he had no intention to hit the Hardy house or any person, and he never aimed the gun at the dog. (T 158, 159)



### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Honorable Court's decision in State v. Weller, 590 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1991), applies to this case in which the trial court refused to advise the jury that their special finding, that Petitioner used a firearm in the commission of an aggravated assault, would mandate a mandatory minimum sentence of three calendar years in prison. Rule 3.390(a), which provides that a trial judge shall not instruct a jury on penalties which may be imposed, does not prohibit a trial judge from instructing a jury on penalties which must be imposed. For the same reasons that a jury trying a charge of conspiracy to traffic in cocaine must be told that their factual findings will affect the sentence, the jury at Petitioner's trial should have been told, at his request, that their special verdict would mandate a minimum sentence.

The trial court abused its discretion by refusing to instruct Petitioner's jury on the three-year mandatory minimum penalty in his case, because the requirement that the trial court impose the mandatory minimum penalty was dependent on the jury's special finding.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION IN STATE v. WELLER, 590 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1991), APPLIES IN THIS CASE AND REQUIRES THAT THE TRIAL COURT INSTRUCT THE JURY ON MANDATORY MINIMUM PENALTIES WHICH ARE DEPENDENT UPON THE JURY'S FACTUAL FINDINGS.

Rule 3.390(a) states:

**(a) Subject of instructions.**

The presiding judge shall charge the jury only on the law of the case at the conclusion of argument of counsel. Except in capital cases, the judge shall not instruct the jury on the sentence that may be imposed for the offense for which the accused is on trial.

Section 918.10(1), however, provides:

(1) At the conclusion of argument of counsel, the court shall charge the jury. The charge shall be only on the law of the case and must include the penalty for the offense for which the accused is being charged.

Petitioner's counsel requested that his jury be instructed on the penalties for aggravated assault and shooting at or into a building, the crimes for which he was on trial. (T 186) He argued in particular that the jury must be informed of the penalties where their special finding would determine the sentence, i. e., a three-year mandatory minimum prison term if they found that a firearm was involved in the aggravated assault. (T 187-188) The trial judge denied the request because "You don't give penalties on cases in Florida anymore." (T 186)

Section 775.087(2)(a) makes it mandatory that anyone who is

convicted of aggravated assault and had in his possession a firearm be sentenced to a minimum term of three calendar years. It was apparently believed by everyone involved in this case, including the prosecutor and the trial judge, that a three-year mandatory minimum prison term was inappropriate and even unfair for a man who had been a school teacher for 25 years and whose reputation in the community of Sanford prompted some to gather signatures on a petition to present to the trial court and others to attend his sentencing. (SR 11-14, 18) The prosecutor said:

MR. STONE [Prosecutor]: I want to point out to the Court and also to members that are in the courtroom right now in the audience, I'm not happy by this. This is very difficult for me, and I see Mr. Knight and I think, based upon the petitions that were submitted to you and based upon what I know of him, that he isn't really truly a criminal, but he did commit a criminal act on that day. . . .

. . . So it's difficult for me to ask the Court to impose a legal sentence in this case.

(SR 13-14) The trial court appeared equally reluctant to impose the mandatory minimum term:

THE COURT: Let me tell you, this is a brief response to that, it doesn't take a rocket scientist to figure out the love and respect this man has in his community. And you wouldn't be here, and I understand that. And let me preface my sentencing colloquy based upon the fact that I'm not particularly enamored with the sentence I must impose this morning. I have no choice.

If I could, I would put this man on probation. I can't put him on straight probation, however, nor can this Court

withhold adjudication of guilt. That would be a nice weapon in my little arsenal if I could do that. The law says I must adjudicate him guilty and I must sentence him to no less than three years in the state prison. Those are uncompromised principles and I was sworn as a judge to follow the law. And I think Mr. Frederick as his attorney, an outstanding attorney, that you understand that to be a fact and understand the position of the law. That's the law.

(SR 22-23)

The Fifth District Court of Appeal held in this case that Rule 3.390(a) of the Rules of Criminal Procedure abrogates Section 918.10(1) and affirmed the trial court's refusal to instruct Petitioner's jury that a minimum penalty would be mandated by their verdict that he used a firearm. Knight v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D862 (Fla. 5th DCA April 7, 1995). The District Court's decision also relied on this Honorable Court's ruling in McKendry v. State, 641 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1994), which upheld the mandatory nature of the five-year prison penalty for possession of short-barreled shotgun. See also State v. Coban, 520 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 1988) (The plenary power of the legislature to prescribe punishment for criminal offenses cannot be abrogated by the courts in the guise of fashioning an equitable sentence outside the statutory provision).

Petitioner recognizes that the language of Section 918.10(1), that instructions on criminal penalties "must" be included in the jury charge, has been interpreted to be "directive" rather than mandatory, Johnson v. State, 308 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 1974), despite the fact that "[i]n common usage, the

word 'must' has a more preemptory or mandatory significance than does the word 'shall[.]'" Murray v. State, 378 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (Orfinger, J., concurring specially), quashed, 403 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1981). Even if the word "must" in Section 918.10(1) only means "may," however, Petitioner maintains that this provision authorizes trial judges to exercise their discretion to "[inform] the jury of one of the most telling indicators of a crime's perceived severity" in appropriate cases. The Florida Bar Re: Amendment to Rules--Criminal Procedure, 462 So. 2d 386, 392 (Fla. 1984) (Boyd, C. J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). Rule 3.390(a) usurps this Legislative grant.

Petitioner further recognizes that the Legislature has no constitutional authority to enact any law relating to court practice and procedure but may only, by a two-thirds vote of the House and Senate, repeal rules promulgated by the Supreme Court. Art. V s. 2(a), Fla. Const. It is worth noting, however, that since Rule 3.390(a) was promulgated in 1984, its antithesis, Section 918.10(1), has been "re-adopted" by the Legislature in every ensuing biennial adoption act. See ss. 11.2421, Fla. Stat. (1993); 11.2421, Fla. Stat. (1991); 11.2421, Fla. Stat. (1989); 11.2421, Fla. Stat. (1987); 11.2421, Fla. Stat. (1985); and ss. 918.10(1), Fla. Stat. (1991); 918.10(1), Fla. Stat. (1989); 918.10(1), Fla. Stat. (1987); 918.10(1), Fla. Stat. (1985); 918.10(1), Fla. Stat. (1983).

Rule 3.390(a) does not, in any event, prohibit the jury

instruction requested by Petitioner at his trial; rather, the ruling in State v. Weller, 590 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1991), requires it. In the District Court's opinion, Judge Thompson emphasized the language of Rule 3.390(a) in this way:

The presiding judge shall charge the jury only on the law of the case at the conclusion of argument of counsel. Except in capital cases, the judge shall not instruct the jury on the sentence that may be imposed for the offense for which the accused is on trial.

Knight v. State. (Emphasis in original.) More pertinent to the situation in Weller and in this case, however, is the Rule's directive that:

. . . [T]he judge shall not instruct the jury on the sentence that may be imposed for the offense for which the accused is on trial.

(Emphasis supplied.) Rule 3.390(a) is simply inapplicable in this case and cases like it and Weller, where there are penalties which must be imposed, depending on the jury's findings.

Aggravated assault is a third-degree felony. s. 784.021(2), Fla. Stat. (1993). If during the commission of an aggravated assault the defendant also had a firearm in his possession, he may be found guilty of a third-degree felony but he also shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of three years in prison. s. 775.087(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993). Without the jury's special finding that a firearm was possessed, the three-year mandatory minimum provision deplored by the prosecutor and the trial judge at Petitioner's sentencing would not apply. See, e. g., State v.

Tripp, 642 So. 2d 728 (Fla. 1994).

In State v. Weller, 590 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1991), this Honorable Court found that it was error for the trial court not to instruct the jury on all three of the drug trafficking offenses that involve 28 grams or more of cocaine, even though each offense, defined by the amount of cocaine involved, is a first-degree felony. s. 893.135(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989). This Court might have found that the categories within the trafficking statute were not "lesser" offenses included within the greater offense for which Weller was on trial, except:

[W]e are constrained to find error here, because the three offenses in question carry different minimum penalties, despite their shared status as first-degree felonies. As noted earlier, Florida law provides for a greater mandatory minimum sentence and a greater fine, determined by the quantity of the substance involved in the offense.  
. . . .

Id., 590 So. 2d at 927. (Emphasis in original.) The Supreme Court went on to say:

Thus, before the trial court can impose sentence on a defendant when enhancements of this type are authorized, the trial court must inform the jury that the minimum mandatory punishment for the offense is greater depending upon the quantity of the substance involved. The jury then must determine from the evidence adduced at trial the quantity of contraband involved in the commission of the offense, in effect advising the court as to the appropriate minimum penalty.

Id., 590 So. 2d at 927. (Emphasis supplied.)

The rationale of Weller was echoed by defense counsel's argument in support of instructing the jury on the penalty in this case:

MR. FREDERICK [Defense counsel]: .  
. . . It's my position that even if under normal circumstances [the penalties] would not be given under the theory that the Court decides the penalties for the offense[,] that where the Statute is of such nature that the penalty is automatic if the jury makes a finding of guilt that the jury is entitled to have that information.

(T 187-188) (Emphasis supplied.)

McKendry v. State, 641 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1994), relied upon in its opinion by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, is inapposite to the issue in this case and in State v. Weller. McKendry presented the question of whether a sentencing judge could impose a sentence other than the mandatory minimum five years in prison prescribed for possessing a short-barreled shotgun and this Honorable Court answered that it cannot. The validity of McKendry's conviction was not involved in that decision, as is Petitioner's in this case. Petitioner has not attacked the validity of the sentence prescribed for aggravated assault with a firearm but the validity of his conviction, obtained at a trial at which his request for a valid jury instruction was denied.

The trial court not only denied Petitioner's request for a jury instruction to which he was entitled but, after admonishing them that they "must follow the law as it is set out in these instructions," made the following statement to Petitioner's jurors:



THE COURT: . . . Your duty is to determine if the defendant is guilty or not guilty in accord with the law. It is the judge's job to determine what a proper sentence would be if the defendant is guilty.

(T 294) (Emphasis supplied.)

When it pertains to the definition or elements of a crime or compromises an accused's affirmative defense, a misleading jury instruction constitutes fundamental reversible error. Rojas v. State, 522 So. 2d 914 (Fla. 1989); Pugh v. State, 624 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); Carter v. State, 469 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). The jury instruction quoted above is not only misleading but a misstatement of law and fact. In this case, it is nonsensical.