FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 26 1995

CLERK, SUPPLINE OURT

JOHN ANDREW KNIGHT,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC CASE NO. 85,654 5TH DCA CASE NO. 94-1003

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

nended

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANTHONY J. GOLDEN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #162172
444 Seabreeze Blvd.
5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The language of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(a) is mandatory that the trial judge shall not instruct the jury on the sentence that may be imposed for the offense for which the accused is on trial. The application of this Court's decision in State v. Weller, 590 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1991), is limited to the unique problems presented by the drug trafficking statute, Section 893.135(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989), and does not require that the jury be instructed on the three year mandatory minimum penalty in every case involving possession of a firearm in the commission of an enumerated felony under Section 775.087(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1993).

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT'S DECISION IN STATE V. WELLER, 590 SO. 2D 923 (FLA. 1991), \mathbf{NOT} REQUIRE THAT DOES THE TRIAL COURT INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE THREE YEAR MANDATORY MINIMUM SENTENCE FOR POSSESSION OF Α FIREARM ΙN COMMISSION OF A FELONY PURSUANT TO SECTION 775.087(2)(a).

Because Section 893.135(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989), the drug trafficing statute, created a situation where a defendant could be convicted of three different first degree felonies resulting in three different mandatory minimum sentences depending on the quantity of the substance involved, this Court ruled in State v. Weller, 590 So. 2d 923, 927 (Fla. 1991), that the jury should be instructed that the mandatory minimum penalty is greater depending on the quantity of the substance involved. The jury would then determine from the evidence adduced at trial the quantity of the contraband involved and thereby, in effect, advise the court as to the appropriate mandatory minimum penalty.

Petitioner contends that <u>Weller</u> requires a jury instruction on the possible penalties in every case involving a mandatory minimum, despite the clear language of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(a), that the judge <u>shall not</u> instruct the jury on the sentence that may be imposed for the offense for which the accused is on trial. Respondents would assert that <u>Weller</u> carves out a narrow exception to that rule to be applied only in first degree felony drug trafficking cases under Section 893.135(1)(b), Florida Statutes, requiring the jury to determine from the evidence at trial whether the quantity of the contraband involved

in the offense was 28 grams or more but less than 200 grams, 200 grams or more but less than 400 grams or 400 grams or more up to 150 kilograms. The jury is simply asked to make a factual determination concerning the quantity of the contraband involved.

In the instant case, there is no such problem. The jury was simply asked to determine from the evidence adduced at trial whether or not Petitioner possessed a firearm during the commission of the offense of aggravated assault. Either Petitioner possessed a firearm or he did not. The evidence was unrefuted. Petitioner admitted possessing and firing a firearm during this incident. The jury returned a verdict consistent with the evidence and made the specific finding that Petitioner possessed a firearm during the commission of the aggravated assault. (Appendix II, R73).

A related problem was confronted by this Court last year in McKendry v. State, 641 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1994). In that case, a trial court judge had tried to circumvent the mandatory minimum five year penalty for possession of a short-barreled shotgun by suspending the sentence and placing the defendant on community control to be followed by probation. This Court cited its decision in State v. Coban, 520 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 1988), in concluding that the courts have no discretion in whether or not to impose the mandatory sentence prescribed by the legislature. In his concurring opinion, Justice Overton stated that the legislature should be extremely careful in directing the imposition of mandatory sentences and should consider reinstating to some extent the trial judge's discretion under Section 948.01,

Florida Statutes (1993). In his dissent, Justice Shaw suggested that the majority had lost sight of the ultimate goal, "simple justice for a common man".

While the legislature has apparently chosen not to heed the advice of Justice Overton, it cannot be said that the sentence imposed in the instant case denied Petitioner simple justice. The testimony and other evidence presented at trial clearly that, on September 6, 1993, after a physical establish altercation over a near traffic accident, Petitioner went to his car, got out a gun and fired several shots into the victim's There were bullet holes in the walls of the victim's bedroom and that of his daughter and bullets were recovered from over his daughter's closet and from behind a couch. stated that Petitioner fired at least one shot in his direction on the porch. Although Petitioner testified that he had not intended to hit anyone, he is most fortunate that no one was injured during the shooting and that he did not face even more serious charges and penalties. Petitioner had a prior record for disorderly conduct and for battery. (Appendix III, R103). failed to learn his lesson Apparently, Petitioner controlling his temper from the experience of those convictions. The legislature enacted Section 775.087(2), Florida Statutes, twenty years ago to discourage the possession of a firearm in the commission of a felony and, hopefully, to save some lives thereby. Chapter 74-383, Section 9, Laws of Florida, effective July 1, 1975. All things considered, the minimum three year sentence of imprisonment required by this conviction cannot be said to be unjust under the circumstances in this case. The jury made the correct factual finding based upon the evidence adduced in this case. The trial court properly assessed the penalty mandated by the legislature. The question certified in Knight v.State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D 862 (Fla. 5th DCA April 7, 1995), should be answered in the negative. (Appendix I).

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, Respondent respectfully prays this Honorable Court either decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction or approve decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal below and answer the certified question in the negative.